Consoliolated
u/73,666

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDAL ED SID J. WHITE

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF FLORIDA, ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH, on behalf of the STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

vs.

JOHN D'AGOSTO,

Appellee.

MAY 30 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

74,150

Case No.

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District of Florida

APPELLANT, STATE OF FLORIDA'S, INITIAL BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ERIC J. TAYLOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

Office of the Attorney General The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (904) 487-2142

Counsel for the State of Florida

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the early 1970's Congress began to take further notice of the continuing nearly total lack of enforcement of child support orders throughout the United States. Children, who deserved and needed the money, were not getting much state assistance in obtaining the money from their non custodial parent (mostly fathers). As many of these children were recipients of Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC). Congress, in 1967, had amended the Social Security Act to require state welfare agencies to establish a single governmental agency to identify the paternity of each child and secure support payments from that non supporting man.

However, the states did not use the 1967 amendments to help the deserted children in their jurisdiction to obtain the support they deserved. To remedy this situation, and to lessen the taxpayers load on the AFDC program, Congress enacted Title IV-D of the Social Security Act (P.L. 93-647) which required the states to improve theory programs for establishing and collecting child support payments, while basic responsibility was left with the states, the federal government has a role monitoring the states. If a state did not have a program or not in conformity with the federal law, the state is to suffer a reduction of 5 percent of the federal match funds under the AFDC program.

While the 1975 law made some improvements, there were still some discrepancies and confusion that continued the lack of money to the children. One of the major points of confusion was the application of the federal law to non-AFDC families and one of the discrepancies was the lack of specificity of the types of procedures the states must use in operating the IV-D program. The result of all this was a wide discrepancy in enforcement So, in order to improve the system, to have state-to-state. uniformity nationwide and to have the law apply to all custodial parents, Congress amended the Social Security Act again in 1984 98-378, codified at 42 U.S.C. In order to with P.L. §666. receive federal monies under the Social Security Act, the states were required to enact laws requiring the use of the federally stated procedures in their child support enforcement laws. U.S.C. §666(a), Congress states

In order to satisfy section 654(20)(A) of this title, each State must have in effect laws requiring the use of the following procedures, consistent with the section and with regulations of the Secretary, to increase the effectiveness of the program which the State administers under the part

The difference in this bill over the prior congressional action was the firm procedural requirements that Congress now imposed on the states. Imposed were (1) mandatory wage withholding of the non custodial parent (2) liens against real and personal property for overdue child support (3) state income

tax refund offset (4) information to credit agencies about overdue support (5) security bond of the non custodial pursuit to ensure payment (6) expedited judicial process for establishing. enforcing child obtaining and support payments and (7) notification to AFDC recipients of amounts received. 42 U.S.C. §666(a) (1)-(8). To increase state cooperation in solving this problem, Congress increased the Act's sanction requirements and increased federal monitoring. If the state child support emforcement program did not meet federal requirements, the state would lose federal matching funds and face sanctions.

Florida, as required by Pub.L. 98-378, had to enact the laws directed by Congress if it wished to continue receiving federal AFDC funds. During the 1986 legislative session, HB 1313 was introduced to bring Florida law into compliance with federal law. The Bill was enacted (Chapter 86-220, Laws of Florida) and took effect on October 1, 1986.

In 1986, Congress amended 42 U.S.C. §666 and added an addition set of procedures that the states were required to have in their child support enforcement programs. Like the earlier law, the states had to have these additional federal requirements in their support enforcement programs in compliance with federal

law in order to receive AFDC monies. — The additional procedures are set out in Section 9103(b) of Pub.L. 99-509, codified at Section (a)(9) of 42 U.S.C. §666. Congress required the states to have in effect

"Procedures which require that any payment or installment of support under any child support order, whether ordered thought the State judicial system or through the expedited processes required by paragraph (2), is (on and after the date it is due --

- "(A) a judgment by operation of law, with the full force, effect, and attributes of a judgment of the State, including the ability to be enforced,
- (B) entitled as a judgment to full faith and credit in such State and in any other State, and
- (C) not subject to retroactive modification by such State or by any other State;

except that such procedures may permit modification with respect to any period during which there is pending a petition for modification, but only from the date that notice of such petition has been

1/

Paragraph (2) of Section 9103(b) provided:

⁽²⁾ In the case of a State with respect to which the Secretary of Health and Human Services has determined that State legislation is required in order to conform the State plan approved under part D of title IV of the Social Security Act to the requirements imposed by the amendment made by subsection (a), • •

given, either directly or through the appropriate agent, to the obligee or (where the obligee is the petitioner) to the obligor."

Section 9103(b) provided that, except as provided in paragraph (2) of Section 9103(b), the amendment to Section 42 U.S.C. \$666(a) was to be effective on the date of enactment, which was October 27, 1986.

The law was clear; in order for a state to have an approved plan and, thus, receive federal monies, the state must have a plan and the plan must meet the requirements of 42 U.S.C. §654. In order to meet the requirements of §654, the states, as stated in subsection (20), must have in effect the procedural laws as set forth in 15666 and implement the procedures set out in the state law. If the state does not meet the mandate of §654(20), the state will be out of compliance and will lose its federal monies.

During the 1987 legislative session, the Legislature was presented with and enacted Senate Bill 631, Chapter 87-95, Laws of Florida, which amended Section 61.14, Florida Statutes by adding subsections 5(a)-(d), the provisions of Section 61.14 challenged here. This amendment to Section 61.14 was intended to bring Florida law into compliance with 42 U.S.C. §666(a)(9). The

law took effect on July 1, 1987. $\frac{2}{}$

The Appellee, John D'Agosto and his wife were divorced in April, 1976. The final decree gave custody of the child to the wife and required the Appellee to make child support payments of \$40.00 bi-monthly. At some time in 1984 or 1985, the minor child came to live with the Appellee full time. However, the Appellee failed to file any papers with the trial court modifying the final divorce decree or informing the trial court of the child's new residence away from the mother. Without notification to the court or with permission of the court, the Appellee terminated

During the pendency of this lawsuit, and as a direct result to the two circuit court decisions ruling Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), was unconstitutional, the Legislature again amended Section 61.14(5). See, Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1988 Supp.), Chapter 88, Section 1, Laws of Florida. The amendment specifically addressed the hearing question by providing for a hearing before the judgment by operation of law took effect.

However, in a recent letter to the Secretary of the Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services from the Director of the United States Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Child Support Enforcement, the federal agency charged with the monitoring of the states under 42 U.S.C. (filed with the Court as a supplement to the Record), took the position, after a review of Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), that the "judgment by operation of law" is to take immediate effect on the date the child support payment is due and The federal government clearly asserts that 42 U.S.C. \$666 does not recognize or permit any delay in attaching the "judgment by operation of law" for the purposes of notifying the obligor, allowing him a time in which to reply or in challenging the deliquent support payment in any manner. They also take the position that there is no right to any hearing over the delinquent payment. The letter informed the State that if Florida did not change its law to meet these objections, the state would lose its federal funding.

his child support payments to his wife even though his final court order directed to make such payments.

On July 10, 1987 the Appellee was supposed to pay into the court depository his required \$40 support payment. The Appellee did not make the payment. On August 12, 1987, Freda Wright, Clerk of Indian River County sent a certified letter (R: 11), according to the terms of Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), to the Appellee notifying him that he was delinquent in his child support payments and the provisions of Section 61.14 that would be applicable to him if he did not make his payment before August 27, 1987. The letter went to the address possessed by the Clerk which apparently was the Appellee's place of employment. The Appellee was not personally served by the Clerk of Courts as the law did not require him to be so served.

Appellee brought this action on August 21, 1987.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 14, 1987, the Appellee, John D'Agosto, received a letter from the Honorable Freda Wright, Clerk of Courts, Indian River County, Florida (R: 11). The letter notified the Appellee he was delinquent in his child support payment that had become due on July 10, 1987. The letter also informed the Appellee of the applicable provisions of Section 61.14, Florida Statutes, and the consequences if he did not pay his overdue support payment.

On August 21, 1987, the Appellee filed, with the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, a complaint against Freda Wright (R: 1-12). The Complaint consisted of a Petition for Writ of Prohibition, Petition for Writ of Certiorari, and a Petition for Declaratory Action. Also filed were a Motion to Stay Enactment of Section 61.14, Florida Statutes (R: 16-19) and Motion Declare Section 61.14, Florida to Statutes, Unconstitutional (R: 13-15). The trial court entered an Order to Show Cause on August 24, 1987 (R: 20).

The essence of the Complaint and the Motions was that Section 61.14 Florida Statutes, violated both the United States and the Florida Constitutions because the Act denied the Appellee due process under the law and abridged his privileges and immunities. It also violated the Florida Constitution by infringing upon the power of the judiciary and denying access to the courts.

Ms. Wright was defended by the County Attorney's Office for Indian River County. The Attorney General was informed of the existence of the suit. However, since the statute was being defended by competent counsel in the form of the Indian River County Attorney's Office, the Attorney General chose not to appear at that time.

Appellee's Complaint was challenged as to its form (R: 21-22). The trial court ordered that the first two counts were to be dismissed and the case resolved on the declaratory judgment count (R: 36-37). The Court ordered briefing on the constitutionality of the Act and set a hearing for October 12, 1987.

The Appellee filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R: 24-35). Ms. Wright's counsel filed a memorandum in opposition to the Appellee's Memorandum, including documents concerning the legilative history of both the Federal and State laws (R: 38-95).

On November 19, 1987, the trial court issued its Order on the summary judgment (R: 96-100). The court found Section 61.14, Florida Statutes, unconstitutional in that the law denied the Appellee due process and access to the courts and the law impinged upon the powers of the judiciary.

On December 18, 1987, the Attorney General, appearing as permitted by Section 86.091, Florida Statutes, filed a Notice of Appeal in the circuit court (R: 101-102).

The issues were briefed by the Appellant and Mr.

DAgosto. 3/ Oral argument was held in West Palm Beach on December 15, 1988. On April 12, 1989, the District Court of Appeal issued its opinion. See, Attorney General of Florida, Robert A. Butterworth v. D'Agosto, 14 F.L.W. 911 (Fla. 4th DCA, April 12, 1989). The District Court affirmed the decision of the trial court on all the points stated by the trial court in its Final Summary Judgment of November 17, 1987 and recited those pertinent parts of the Final Summary Judgment the District Court thought important. The Attorney General filed a notice of appeal with the Fourth District Court of Appeal on May 8, 1989.

After receiving notice from this Court that the case was before it, the Attorney General moved on May 18, 1989 to consolidate this case with <u>State of Florida v. Stanjeski</u>, Case No. 73,666, as both cases dealt with the constitutionality of Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987).

^{3/}

On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal realigned the parties and shifted Freda Wright, Clerk of Courts, to an Appellee even though her office initially defended the statute and the Attorney General merely assumed her legal position on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I.

DOES SECTION 61.14(5), FLORIDA STATUTES (1987) DENY ACCESS TO THE COURTS?

II.

DOES SECTION 61.14 FLORIDA STATUTES, DENY DUE PROCESS OF LAW?

III.

HAS THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE, BY
ENACTING CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF
SECTION 61.14, FLORIDA STATUTES,
IMPINGED UPON THE POWER OF THE JUDICIARY
AS SET OUT IN ARTICLE V, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

An obligor is not entitled under the case law of this state to alter or modify a past due, vested child support payment. Consequently, the deliquent obligor is not entitled to access to the courts as no court could modify the past due judgments the obligor wishes to attack.

Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), does not deny access to the courts as the obligor has been permitted by the Legislature the opportunity to respond to the notice of delinquency or file a motion to alter or amend the child support order.

The obligor still retains all his equitable defenses he may have in a proceeding to enforce the payment of a past due support order. Nothing in Section 61.14(5) alters any defense an obligor has in the enforcement process.

II.

An obligor does not have any due process rights in the legal process that turns his willful violation of his legal obligations, established in a properly executed court order, into a judgment. Since upon the failure of the obligor to pay the required support no court can alter or modify the deliquent vested payment, there is no need to notice the obligor of his failure to pay the support or to provide an opportunity to

challenge his failure to pay.

Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), does not deny the obligor any due process rights. Through this statute, the obligor is afforded proper notice through certified mail and is afforded a meaningful hearing on the delinquent support payment even though State and Federal Constitutional law does not require such notice or opportunity to be heard. The statute does not prohibit any hearing on the enforcement of a past due amount nor deny the obligor any defenses permitted under law.

III.

Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), does not impinge upon the powers of the judiciary. Section 61.14(5) addresses child support "judgments" and only prohibits the modification of past due "judgments". The prohibition in Section 61.14 is a mere restatement of the common and case law of Florida. This statute does not attempt to limit the court's discretion or power in an enforcement proceeding.

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

This case is before this Court upon the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal rendered April 12, 1989, holding Section 61.14 (5), Florida Statutes, unconstitutional. $\frac{4}{}$ / The case came before the District Court of Appeal from the final order of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit that found Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987) unconstitutional. The trial court found the statute unconstitutional for the following reasons:

- 1. The act denies an obligor due process of law in that it does not provide adequate notice to the obligor nor provides for a hearing on the issues raised by the law; and
- 2. The act denies the obligor access to the courts because the law does not permit the modification of a past due child support order.
- 3. The act impinges upon the power of the judiciary to amend or alter a prior decision or order of the court.

The District Court of Appeal affirmed the decision of the trial

A similar challenge to the constitutionality of Section 61.14(5) was made in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit Court. The statute was held unconstitutional; affirmed on appeal, State of Florida, ex rel. Jed Pittman v. Stanjeski, 14 F.L.W. 164 (Fla. 2nd DCA, January 13, 1989); and is now pending before this Court as Case No. 73,666.

court. 14 F.L W. 911 (Fla. 4th DCA, April 12, 1989).5/

Both lower courts misunderstood the legal history of child support payments and the place Section 61.14(5) fits into that story. Section 61.14(5) adds little or anything to the commom law or case law of this State. If anything, Section provides greater procedural protections than the past case decisions allowed. The Appellant will show to this Court that courts have long been barred from modifying past due child support judgments and, thus, obligors had no due process rights or rights of access concerning their delinquent payments.

In addition, the two courts failed to see all the procedural protections that do exist in the statute and that these protections fully meet the requirements of both the United States and Florida Constitutions, if, under the circumstances of this case, an obligor is even entitled to such rights.

In short, Section 61.14(5) is but a codification of the common and case law of Florida. The rights of an obligor are not in any way lessened by this statute.

^{5/}

Though decided before it, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not rely upon the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in State of Florida, ex rel. Jed Pittman v. Stanjeski, supra.

AN OBLIGOR, DELINQUENT IN HIS CHILD SUPPORT PAYMENTS, IS NOT DENIED ACCESS TO THE COURTS

The main thrust of the opinions of the lower courts is that Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), denies an obligor access to the courts if the delinquent obligor is not permitted the ability to appear before a court and have a hearing prior to the deliquent payment becoming a "judgment by operation of law" or permit the modification of past due support payments. decisions are plainly wrong. Historicly, a deliquent obligor was not entitled to any hearing before his deliquent child support payment became "vested" in the payee or the child. The obligor was not entitled to go to a court and get this vested payment modified or negated. A deliquent obligor therefore acquired no "constitutional" right access of to the courts when the Legislature enacted Section 61.14(5) directing that his deliquent support payment become a judgment by operation of law.

However, if a hearing is required to meet due process and an access to the courts, Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), permits a hearing and meets all the access and due process hearing tests.

The Courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay.

Article 1, Section 21, Florida Constitution. The State would submit that the words of the Constitution could not be more precise; their meaning clear. This provision provides that the citizens of this State will have the courts open to them to resolve any conflict between themselves. Put plainly, "every man is entitled to his day in court and to a fair trial." <u>Lake V. Lake</u>, 103 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1958).

<u>Klugar v. White</u>, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973) is this State's primary case on access to the courts, as so stated recently in Smith v. Department of Insurance, 507 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1987).

[W] here a right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury has been provided by statutory predating the adoption of the Declaration of the State of Florida, or where such right has become a part of the common law of the State pursuant to Fla.Stat. s2.01, F.S.A., Legislature is without power to abolish such a right without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of the State to injuries, redress for unless Legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown.

Klugar, 281 So.2d at 4, cited in Smith, 507 So.2d at 1088.

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