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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ι,

Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), violates the constitutional right of access to the Courts in that the statute deprives the trial Court the power to net aside, alter or modify an order for any payment of money either for the minor children or the support of a party which has accrued prior to the filing of a motion by an obligor. Consequently, an obligor is denied the right to introduce any evidence supporting equitable defenses which pertain to any payment of money which has accrued prior to the filing of a motion by an obligor.

II.

Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987). violates due process in that the statutory scheme mandates the rendition of a final judgment against an obligor within 30 days from the date of delinquency irrespective of whether or when the obligor receives actual notice of said delinquency, The statute is unconstitutional in that it enacts retroactive legislation ordering a fianl judgment and lien against an obligor pertaining to arrearages predating the enactment of the statute. Further, the statute provides no reasonable time period in which an obligor may pay any duly owed arrearages.

III.

Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), abrogates the constitutional principle of soparatfon of powers in that the Legislature has delegated to the Clerk of Court certain rights, including rendering Final Judgments, which is a power fundamentally judicial in nature. The statute prshibite the Court from exercising

its judicial discretion in reviewing, possibly altering, setting aside, or modifying a previous order in violation of separation of powers and in contravention of Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540, entitled 'Relief from Judgment, Decrees or Orders'

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 61.14(5), FLORIDA STATUTES (1987),

DENIES ACCESS TO THE COURTS.

Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), is aaconstitutional on various grounds. The statute is set forth below in its entirety so as to allow a thorough analysis of same:

(a) When support payments are made throught he local depository, an unpaid payment or installment of support which becomes due after July 1, 1987, under any support order and is delinquent shall become, after notice to the **obliger** and the time for response contained therein as set forth in paragraph (b), a final judgment by operation of law and shall have the full force, effect, and attributes of a judgment entered by a court in this state for which execution nay issue. The judgment shall be evidenced by a certified copy of the support order and a certified statement by the local depository evidencing a delisquency in support payments.

(b) When an obligor is 15 days delinquent in making a payment or installment of support, the local depository shall notify the obligor by certified mail, return receipt requested, of such delinquency and its amount. The notice shall state that failure to pay the amount of the delinquency and all other amounts which thereafter become due together with costs and a fee of \$5 shall become a final judgment by operation of law against the obligor beginning 30 days after the date of such delinquency.

(c) As to real property, a lien is created when the notice requirements in paragraph (b) have been fulfilled and a certified copy of the support order, along with a certified stateaeat of the local depositary evidencing a delinquency in support payments is recorded in the official records book of the county where the real property is located. The amount due shall include the delinquency as certified by the recorded statement of the local depository, amounts which thereafter become due prior to satisfaction of the judgment and costs of filing and recording. Upon request of any person, the local depository shall issue, upon payment of a fee of \$5, a pay off statement of the total amount due at the time of the request. The statement ray be relied upon by the person for up to 30 days from the time it is issued unless proof of satisfaction of the judgment is provided. When the depository records show that the judgment has been satisfied, the depository shall record a satisfaction upon receipt of the appropriate recording fee. Any person shall be entitled to rely upon the recording of the satisfaction. The local depository shall not be liable as to errors in its record keeping, except when the error is a result of unlawful activity or gross negligence by the clerk or **his** employees. The local depository, at the direction of the department, or the obligee in \boldsymbol{a} non IV-D case, is authorized to partially release the judgment as to specific real property.

(d) The judgment by operation of law is a fisal judgment as to any unpaid payment or installment of money which has accrued **up** to the time either party makes a motion to set aside, alter, or modify

the order. The Court dses not have the **pewer** to set aside, alter, or modify such order, or any portion thereof, which provides for any payment of **money**, either for rinor children or the support of a party, which has accrued prior to the filing of **such** motion.

The statute specifies that '...any support order which is delinquent shall become... a final judgment by operation of law and shall have the full force, effect, and attributes of a judgment entered by a court in this state for which execution may issue...'. When an obligor is 15 days delinquent in making a payment or installment of support, the local depository (clerk) shall notify the obligor by certified mail indicating that failure to pay the amount of the delinquency and associated costs shall become a final judgment by operation of law befinning 30 days after the date of such delinquency. A lien is imposed on real property when tho notice requirements have been sotisfied and a certified copy of the support order along with a certified statement of the local depository (clerk) evidencing the delinquency of the support payaent is recorded in the official records of the county where real property is located.

The statute dictates that a judgment, by operation of law, is a final judgment as to any unpaid payment which has accrued up to the tire either party makes a motion to set aside, after, or modify the order. The statute prohibits the Court from exercising its judicial responsibility in that '...the Court does not have the power to set aside, alter, or modify such order, or any portion thereof, which provides for any payment of money, either for minor children or the support of a party, which has accrued prior to the filing of such motion...'.

The State has attempted to trace the legislative history pertaining to the subject statute by referencing past federal legislation and the most recent federal statute which is alleged to

а

mandate the statute which is the subject aatter of this appeal, A superficial review of the subject statute in comparison with the federal legislative 'mandate' reveals noticeable differences. Initially, it is noteworthy that the federal legislation makes no reference or 'mandates' any rights with regard to '... support of a but rather focuses concern solely on the issue of child party,...', The subject statute expressly prohibits trial Courts froa support. either setting aside, altering, or modifying a previous order which provides for any payment of motley, either for minor childrer or the support of a party which has accrued prior to the filing of such motion by either party (emphasis added). Further, 42 U.S.C. \$ 666 (1986), makes no reference to a readition of final judgment by a Clerk of Court for which execution may issue; nor does the federal law require the imposition of a lien on realty.

As indicated, the State statute contains additional provisions not 'mandated' by federal legislation; consequently, the State's reference to and reliance upon the federal mandate is misplaced as the 'cause' of the promulgation of the subject statute.

D'Agosto questions the constitionality of 42 U.S.C. S 666 (1986); however, that matter is not ths issue before this Court,

Section 61.14(5), Florida Statutes (1987), does violate access to the Courts as guaranteed in Article 1, Section 21, of the Florida Constitution, entitled 'Access to the Courts'. Subparagraph (d) provides that the judgment by operation of law is a final judgment as to any unpaid payment which is accrued up to the time either party makes a motion to set aside, alter, or modify the order. However, the Court does not have the power to set aside, alter, or modify such order or any portion thereof which provides for any payment of money, either for minor children or for the support of a party which has

accrued prior to the filing of such motion, Consequently, even an order which does not pertain to child support but only provides for support of a party, arguably alimony, may not be reviewed by a lower Court under any circumstances because that Court is prohibited fraa exercising its judicial authority contrary to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540, entitled 'Relief from Judgment, Decrees or Orders'.

The express language contained in the statute prohibits the Courts from addressing prior orders, and consequently precludes an obligor from introducing any testimony or any evidence of any nature pertaining to reasons why support which has accrued prior to the filing of any motion should be reduced, waived or in any way altered.

The State asserts that the statute relates only to past child support payments (the State ignores the statutory language which relates to support for a party). It further maintains that the statute does not affect the enforcement process thereby entitling an obligor to assert all the defenses available under common law relative to past due child support orders,

The State's position is contrary to the express language contained in the statute. The statute prehibits the Court from altering, setting aside, modifying, or in any way addressing any payment of support either for minor children or the support of **a** party which has accrued prior to the filing of a motion by an obligor. It is evident that an obligor is denied access to the Court as it relates to his or her right to assert equitable defenses pertaining to the support order. The statute expressly divests the Court of inherent judicial discretion plus seeks to abolish numerous equitable defenses recognized at common law. Accordingly, the statute clearly violates access to the Courts. <u>See Kluger vs. White</u>, 281 So.2nd 1 (Fla. 1973); Smith vs. Department of Insurance, 507 So.2nd 1080 (Fla. 1987).

A legion of Florida case authority recognizes the right to be heard and present evidence along with confrenting witnesses in connection with matters involving child support arrearages. However, the statute contains no provision for reasonable notice nor an opportunity to be heard on the issue of arrearages. See <u>Ryan vs.</u> <u>Ryan</u>, 277 So.2nd 266 (Fla. 1973). Indeed, the legislature recognized the statutory deficiency in amending the subject statute by inserting specific provisioar for a reasonable opportunity to be heard in a timely fashion. S 61.14(5)(b) 3. Fla, Stat, (1988).

In <u>Gottesman</u> xs. <u>Cottesmaa</u>, 227 So. 2nd 640 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969). the Court entered an Order finding the husband to be in arrears but did not reduce the arrearages to judgment, Further the Court did not authorize execution on past arrearages based on equitable considerations including the husband's financial inability in that matter. In <u>Smithwick vs. Smithwick</u>, 343 So. 2nd 945 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), the Court rejected the husband's position bat did recognize that the enforcement of arrearages is a matter resting in the sound discretion of the Court to be determined on equitable considerations including the financial status of the parties.

In <u>Warrick vs. Hender</u>, 198 So.2nd 348 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967). the Court eliminated arrearages based on an equitable defense asserted by the husband. In <u>Francisco vs.</u> Francisco, 505 So.2nd 348 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987), the fermer husband was granted a set off against a judgment fer past child support and mortgage payments. In <u>Ashe vs. Ashe</u>, 509 So.2nd 1146 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) the Court recited the general rule that absent compelling circumstances such as waiver, laches, estoppel, or repreheasible conduct on the part of the custodial parent, arrearages will aot be cancelled or retrospectively reduced. However, the Court recognized the judicial relief of cancellation or reduction

of child support arrearages based on equitable principles. <u>See</u> <u>Chappell vs. Chappell</u>, 253 So.2nd 281 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971): <u>Francisco</u> <u>vs. Francisco</u>, supra; <u>Brock vs. Hudson</u>, 494 So.2nd 285 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); <u>Brown vs. Brown</u>, 108 So.2nd 492 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1959); <u>Smith vs.</u> <u>Department Of Insurance</u>, supra: and <u>Gus vs. Pavic</u>, 500 So.2nd 867 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971); <u>Eng sg: Heislett</u>, 388 So.2nd 1261 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980); <u>O'Brien vs. O'Brien</u>, 424 So.2nd 970 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

Other juridictions recognize equitable defenses in arrearage matters, resulting in set-offs, reductions or elimination of accrued support payments. <u>See M. vs. M.</u>, 313 S.W.2nd 209 (Mo. App. 1958); <u>Isler vs. Jeter</u>, 425 N.E.2nd 667 (Iad, App. 1981); <u>Beverly vs.</u> <u>Beverly</u>, 257 S.E.2nd 682 (NC App. 1979); <u>Nabors vs. Nabors</u>, 354 So.2nd 277 (Ala. App. 1978); <u>Re: Andras</u>, 410 So.2nd 328 (La. App. 1982); <u>Re:</u> <u>Marriage</u> Of <u>Wimrer</u>, 349 N.W.2nd 505 (Iowa App, 1984): <u>Strum vs. Strum</u>, 317 N.E.2nd 59 (I11. App. 1974); <u>McNeal vs. Rsbinson</u>, 628 P.2nd 358 (Okla. 1981); <u>Pence vs. Pence</u>, 268 S.W.2nd 609 (Ark. 1954): and <u>Sears</u> **vs. Strars**, 462 A.2nd 1099 (Del. Fam. Ct. 1983).

In sum, the statute prohibits the Court from exercising its judicial function in determining whether or not past child support arrearages should be eliminated or reduced. Further, the statute precludes the Court from exercising its judicial discretion in refusing to reduce arrearages to final judgment and/or alternatively from disellowing execution relative to the prior order of atrearages See <u>Gottesman vs. Cottesman</u>, supra. To that extent, an obligor is expressly denied access to the Court on the issue of whether past due arrearages may be eliminated, reduced or not reduced to final judgment because the Court is prohibited from setting aside, altering or modifying any prior order relating to the payment of money, either for minor children or the support of a party. Further, the Courts have

been deprived of exercising judicial discretion as to whether arrearages should be reduced to judgment and/or whether execution thereon should be granted or witheld.

2 × J + 2

The statute violates both the letter and spirit of the constitutional right to access to the Courts and contravenes organic law relative to eliminating equitable defenses pertaining to arrearages.

ARGUMENT

II. SECTION 61.14(5), FLORIDA STATUTES
(1987), DENIES DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

The statute mandates the rendition of a final judgment and the imposition of a lien on realty swned by an obligor within 30 days from the date of delinquency, irrespective of whether or when the obligor receives notice of said delinquency. The notice requirement is merely by return receipt requested aail which is insufficient process to apprise the obligor of the pendency of the action. <u>See Quay</u> <u>Development, Inc. vs. Elegante Bldg. Corp.</u>, 392 So.2nd 901 (Fla. 1981): <u>Hullane vs. Central Hanover Baak & Trust Co.</u>, 339 U.S. 306 (1950): <u>Hart vs. Hart</u>, 458 So.2nd 815 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

The statute provides that when an sbligor is 15 days delinquent in making a payment, the local depository (clerk) shall notify the obligor by certified mail, return receipt requested, of such delinquency and its amount. The statute does not require that the notice be served on the obligor. A certified letter is delivered to anyone who vill sign for same, thereby resulting in the reality that an obligor may not receive actual notice of the matter. (Note that 'small claims' matters are more reasonably calculated to insure notice of a pending action. Fla.R.Summ.P. 7.070, entitled 'Nethod of Service of Process', specifically requires that service of process must be effected pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.070 or alternatively, that Florida residents may be served by registered rail, return receipt requested, signed by the defendant or someone authorized to receive mail at the residence or the principle place of business of the defendant.)

There may be compliance with the statutory language resulting in a Final Judgment and liea on property without the obligor receiving

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